

Design and characterization of a low thermal drift capacitive humidity sensor by inkjet-printing

Almudena Rivadeneira¹, José Fernández-Salmerón¹, Manuel Agudo², Juan A. López-Villanueva¹, Luis Fermín Capitan-Vallvey², Alberto J. Palma¹

¹*ECsens, Departamento de Electrónica y Tecnología de Computadores, ETSIIT
Universidad de Granada, E-18071, Granada, Spain*

²*ECsens, Departamento de Química Analítica, Facultad de Ciencias Universidad de
Granada, E-18071, Granada, Spain*

(e-mail: arivadeneira@ugr.es; jfsalmeron@ugr.es; manuelagudo@ugr.es;
jalopez@ugr.es; lcapitan@ugr.es; ajpalma@ugr.es)

*Corresponding author: arivadeneira@ugr.es Tel.: +34958242302 Fax: +34958242330

Abstract – Small, low-cost and flexible humidity sensors were designed, fabricated by using an inkjet-printing process, and fully characterized. Based on the principles of the capacitor and the ability of a polyimide to absorb humidity, the sensor was fabricated by printing silver interdigitated electrodes on a thin polyimide film of 75 μm of thickness. After modelling, the total area of the printed sensor was optimized to be 11.65 mm^2 . A relative humidity sensitivity of 4.5 $\text{fF}/\% \text{RH}$ and a thermal coefficient of $-0.4 \text{ fF}/^\circ\text{C}$ were measured at 100 kHz, whereas the sensitivity and the thermal coefficient were 4.2 $\text{fF}/\% \text{RH}$ and $-0.21 \text{ fF}/^\circ\text{C}$, respectively, at 1 MHz. This latter result implies that it could not be necessary to include thermal compensation to use this sensor depending on the required accuracy and the chosen frequency. This work shows a reliable, fast, simple and low-cost manufacturing process to make small humidity sensors with low thermal drift and high temporal stability. These sensors could be easily integrated into inkjet-printed RFID tags for monitoring of environmental humidity in diverse applications.

Keywords: Moisture sensor; Interdigitated electrode capacitor; Flexible electronics; RFID tag

1. Introduction

In recent years, printed and flexible electronic devices have become increasingly attractive due to their potential low-cost per surface area, mechanical flexibility and feasibility of large scale processing. The main advantage of printed electronics is a simplified manufacturing process, which results in lower cost processes and shorter cycle time.

On another front, today there is a very strong and growing demand in world trade for humidity sensors. In fact, the field of smart packaging including sensor capabilities opens new challenges in the ~~developing~~-development of flexible and printed humidity sensors compatible with this kind of technologies. An important additional advantage of printed sensors is the possibility of integrating them with printed radio frequency identification (RFID) tags. There is a lot of interest at present in converging RFID tags and sensing capabilities that are able to save and store the acquired information related to both identity and measured parameters, see for example [1-3]. The introduction of RFID and the Electronic Product Code (EPC) standard as a substitute of popular barcodes in packaging has advanced markets in intelligent packaging. It will be possible to read not only many packages at the same time but also environmental parameters extracted from sensors incorporated into the containers. There is a special interest in the capability of tracking the condition of a package through the whole supply chain to certify that products in their packages have not been endangered because of being exposed to wrong environmental conditions.

Great efforts and very valuable advances have been made in the design of flexible and printed humidity [3-6] and other gases sensors [7-9]. Related to the requirement of low energy consumption, the classic transduction mechanism of these humidity sensors is capacitive, specifically through changes in the electrical permittivity of some component of the capacitor and the dielectric thickness. This requires the use of chemicals (usually

polymers) whose electrical permittivity changes with the relative humidity of the environment. One of the most frequently used structures for capacitive sensors is based on planar interdigitated electrodes (IDE) due to its compactness, high contact area and relative ease of manufacturing [10-12].

Different fabrication processes have been used to develop this kind of sensors, such as gravure, screen printing and inkjet-printing; and different strategies have been applied to include the sensing capability in the capacitor. The most common approach has been to deposit the sensing layer over the IDE capacitor [13-15]. Some frequently used polymers are cellulose acetate butyrate (CAB), polymethylmethacrylate (PMMA) and polyvinylchloride (PVC), among others. Another possibility is to use the flexible substrate as **the** sensing element. In this case, polyimide [6] and photographic paper [5] have already been described, saving fabrication steps compared with the former approach. Despite all the previous work, these capacitive sensors have a high thermal drift as one of the main challenges to be overcome in order to obtain an accurate humidity measurement. Differential measurements with reference capacitors (not sensitive to humidity) [2] or including additional temperature sensors [16, 17] are some of the used strategies to reduce the interference due to thermal drift. Both solutions imply the addition of other devices, consuming more area and energy.

In this work, we present the design, fabrication and characterization of a capacitive humidity sensor which uses the flexible substrate as sensitive element. This capacitor has been printed with silver nanoparticles by inkjet-printing on a polyimide thin film. Our aim has been to obtain a very small device with optimized dimensions based on numerical simulation, minimal fabrication steps and a very low thermal drift without additional components, useful in many applications. Furthermore, we have analysed the influence of the number of printed layers **in-on** the sensor performance.

2. Materials and Methods

A. Sensor Design

The devices analysed in this study are planar IDE capacitors which allow more direct interaction between the sensor and the surrounding environment compared to other structures [13]. The usual approach for providing humidity (or other gases) sensitivity is to deposit a sensing layer on ~~to~~ this structure with some humidity-dependent electrical property. The variation of this property with the humidity produces changes in the capacitance of the whole device. But here, we have skipped this deposition step and directly used the flexible substrate made of polyimide as the sensing element to simplify the fabrication process (Fig. 1). The polyimide is a well-known chemical whose electrical behaviour shows a high sensitivity to the relative humidity. Specifically, the relationship between ~~its~~ the electrical permittivity of this polyimide and the relative humidity ~~of this polyimide~~ has already made it interesting to ~~be tested~~ it as a humidity sensor [6]. This relationship is given by:

$$\varepsilon_r = \varepsilon_{r0} + \alpha \cdot RH(\%) \quad (1)$$

where $RH(\%)$ is the relative humidity in percentage and ε_{r0} and α are material dependent parameters. This relative permittivity also depends on frequency and temperature among other parameters which could interfere with the measurement of the humidity. These dependences ~~have also to~~ must be also analysed in order to obtain a complete overview of the sensor behaviour and to try facing them to improve the sensor performance.

The optimization of the sensor dimensions may potentially introduce more sensors into the devices, saving manufacturing materials and area. For this purpose, we used COMSOL Multiphysics 4.2a (www.comsol.com, COMSOL, Inc. USA) to optimize the design. This is a powerful interactive environment for solving problems based on partial

differential equations with the finite element method. This software has previously been used to calculate distributions of potential field in this ~~kind type~~ of structures [18, 19].

The total capacitance is determined by the integral of the electrostatic energy density, W_e , through the ~~relation-equation~~:

$$C = \frac{2}{V_{port}^2} \int_{\Omega} W_e d\Omega \quad (2)$$

where V_{port} is the value of the applied voltage in the port of the sensor. The other electrode is connected to ground. The electrical parameters of the substrate given by the manufacturer and the printed and cured conductive silver ink according to our characterization were included in the numerical simulator [20].

Several parametric analyses were performed varying the fundamental geometrical parameters of the IDE such as the number of fingers, the gap width between two ~~consecutive~~ fingers and their dimensions (width, length and thickness of each finger). In order to optimize the area, we fixed the finger width to the minimum diameter landed drop (in our case 50 μm) and the gap between fingers also to 50 μm . This gap could be reduced below the drop diameter value to increase the capacitance value but this reduction will lead to a strong possibility of short-circuit between electrodes due to printing errors. The parametrical simulations showed that the thickness of the fingers hardly affects the capacitance value in this structure. In this work, we have also tested structures with one and two printed layers. As shown below, their thicknesses are under 1 μm in both cases ~~which implies implying~~ extremely long simulation times because of meshing issues. Due to this fact, we set the thickness of the IDE to 5 μm for all the simulations to drastically reduce ~~the~~ computational time. Then, we extrapolated the value of the capacitance for the

thickness of 1 layer and 2 layers according to Fig. 2 where the slope of **the** curve is 0.019 pF/ μm .

According to previous considerations, we manufactured the sensor following the specifications from Table I for a targeted nominal capacitance (for one printed layer) of 2 pF since they presented the best compromise between capacitance and area. Finally, the capacitance predicted by COMSOL Multiphysics for this structure was 1.949 pF with only one printed layer in a dry atmosphere.

The designed IDE area was 11.65 mm² (L = 1.85 mm x W = 6.3 mm) composed of 63 fingers (32 fingers for one electrode and 31 for the other one) with 50 μm width and inter-spacing (see Fig. 1). This area is significantly smaller than other comparable printed humidity sensors presented in the literature [13-15, 21]. In order to **easily** test the capacitor ~~properly~~, we added two long terminals to ~~easily~~ couple the sensor to the measurement set-up.

Obviously, the greater the structure **is**, the bigger the capacitance obtained. Our interest in such a small structure was not only to reduce cost in terms of materials and time of fabrication but also to integrate more different sensors **into** the same area.

B. Fabrication Process

The DMP-2831TM Dimatix printer (Fujifilm Dimatix Inc, Santa Clara, USA) was used for inkjet printing. The selected materials were an ink of silver nanoparticles (U5603 SunTronic Technology, San Diego, USA) on a polyimide substrate (Kapton[®] HN with 75 μm of thickness, DupontTM). Table I shows the main properties of the used ink and substrate, respectively. According to the manufacturer of the substrate, the relationship between the relative permittivity and the relative humidity is given by:

$$\varepsilon_r = 3.05 + 0.008 \cdot RH(\%) \quad \text{at } 1 \text{ kHz, } 23^\circ\text{C} \quad (3)$$

The first step before printing was to prepare the substrate to ensure the best quality and to avoid failed printings with a cleaning process. First, we immersed the substrate in acetone ~~solution during for~~ 2 min to remove dust on the surface, then we submerged it in propanol about 2 min to ~~remove-eliminate~~ the acetone. After that, we ~~washed the sample did a washing~~ with purified water to eliminate the propanol and finally a drying at 120°C during 5 min.

This treatment was done to remove all traces of particles that could affect the printing process. The substrate temperature was fixed at 40°C while printing. A drop space of 25 μm was settled in the printer for 50 μm landed diameter drops followed by a sintering step at 120°C for 60 min. According to the model presented in [13, 20] the amount of used ink is 22.68 nl and 45.36 nl for one and two printed layers, respectively. With that printing and curing conditions, the resistivity of the conductive electrodes were $23 \pm 2 \mu\Omega \cdot \text{cm}$ for both one and two printed layers [20]. The fabrication time is much lower than in the case of other sensors because no other sensing layer was needed [13-15]. The fabrication process is also simplified because it only required printing one/two layer/s on one side of the substrate. A matrix of twenty eight capacitors –one half of ~~them with~~ one layer, the other half ~~of with~~ two layers- has been fabricated in order to ~~know test~~ the reproducibility of the process.

C. Characterization

The physical characterization, the roughness of printed patterns as well as the thickness of the patterns has been done using a Wyko NT1100 Optical Profiling System (VEECO, Tucson, AZ, USA). The AC electrical characterization for the different fabricated capacitors has been performed by measuring their capacitance and dissipation factor,

using the four-wires measurement technique with a precision Impedance Analyzer 4294A and an impedance probe kit (4294A1) (Agilent Tech., Santa Clara, CA, USA). The excitation voltage applied in all measurements was $V_{DC} = 0$ and $V_{AC} = 500\text{mV}$. The frequency sweep of analysis was from 100 kHz to 10 MHz. We have considered this frequency range for its compatibility with a wide variety of readout electronic circuits in real applications.

As it has been mentioned above, one of the end sides of the backbones has been enlarged to facilitate its connection to any analyser. A SMA (SubMiniature version A) male connector has been glued to these end points using silver-filled epoxy EPO-TEK[®] H20E (Epoxy Technology, Inc., Billerica, USA) (see Fig. 3).

It was necessary to calibrate up to the SMA connectors including the mentioned extensions of the backbones to rigorously characterize rigorously. For this purpose, we measured several commercial capacitances placed in the same configuration as shown in Fig. 3a, with the 16034G SMD Test Fixture (Agilent Tech., Santa Clara, CA, USA). After processing all data, the total added parasitic capacitance was 2.70 ± 0.02 pF in the whole spectrum of the impedance analyser. The data acquisition and analysis have been automated using Labview 2012 software (National Instruments Corporation, Texas, USA).

The stationary humidity and temperature responses of this sensor have been measured in a climatic chamber VCL 4006 (Vötsch Industrietechnik GmbH, Germany). The humidity range varied from 10% RH to 98% RH in a temperature range of + 10 °C to + 95 °C. The humidity deviation in time was $\pm 1\%$ to $\pm 3\%$, whereas the temperature deviation in time was ± 0.3 °C to ± 0.5 °C. Due to the slow response of the mentioned climatic chamber, the dynamic response has been measured in a customized humidity measurements set-up

(9 x 3 cm²), which automatically controls wet and dry airflow inside a small gas cell at room temperature. Two LCR-meters (HP 4284L and Agilent E4980A, Agilent Tech., Santa Clara, CA, USA) have been used to measure the corresponding capacitance values at a frequency of 100 kHz every 5 s. Capacitance and time measurements of the printed sensors have been controlled and recorded using the software Labview 2012. RH and temperature measurements have ~~also~~ been ~~also~~-registered by a commercial sensor (SHT15, Sensirion AG, Switzerland) in order to verify the data given by the chambers' displays. In all cases, the IDE capacitors have been placed in the middle of the climatic chambers allowing the atmosphere interaction in both faces of the sensors, printed and non-printed.

3. Results and Discussion

In this section, we first show the physical characterization of the printed IDE capacitors and the fabrication yield. This yield was calculated from low frequency capacitance measurements of ~~the~~ several replicas of IDE capacitors. After that, the capacitance response to the relative humidity was characterized taking into account ~~also~~ the ~~measurement~~ frequency ~~of measurement~~ and the temperature dependences. Regarding all these experimental data, we analysed the ratio of humidity sensitivity and thermal drift to find the frequency range where humidity can be accurately measured without compensation of ~~temperature-thermal~~ effects.

3.1. Physical characterization

We have manufactured fourteen samples with one printed layer and other fourteen samples with two layers. According to a previously ~~ly~~ developed physical model of layer thickness by inkjet printing [13, 20], the estimated thicknesses are 430 nm and 860 nm, respectively. The real dimensions of the structures are given in Table III.

As can be observed in Fig. 4, we used a profiling system to study the real physical characteristics of the printed sensors. Table III also shows the differences between the estimated dimensions and the measured ones for sensors of one and two printed layers. Uncertainties were calculated as ~~one~~ the standard deviation of the experimental data.

R_q is the root mean square (RMS) and R_a the arithmetic average of the absolute values, both of the surface roughness heights. In general, modelled dimensions are very close to experimental ones, showing the greatest difference in the finger width. This can be explained by the spread of the ink drop when it is deposited on the substrate [22].

There is a very good agreement between the measured and the simulated values of the capacitances of the replicated IDE capacitors; this confirms that the proposed extrapolation procedure works properly for the given electrode thicknesses. The measurements were taken in ambient conditions (30% RH and 25°C) at 1 kHz. The employed frequency was not too high to hinder polarization. During these tests, a preliminary (the total number of fabricated samples was 28) manufacturing yield of 90% was found, that is, one sample ~~of~~ out of ten was totally or partially broken. As expected by the numerical simulation (see Fig. 2), capacitors with two printed layers showed only a 0.05736 pF bigger capacitance than those with one layer, due to the low influence of the finger thickness on this electrical magnitude. Moreover, the standard deviation is reduced in almost 3 times in case of two printed layers because more similar structures are obtained with the second layer. This improvement is due to the fact that the second layer covers the irregularities of the first printed layer, smoothing the structure surface.

According to the simulated capacitance, the measured values are about 5% higher in both cases (Table IV). The discrepancy between these results might be caused because the real dimensions of the sensor are not exactly the same as the simulated ones. As described by

[22], printing electronics techniques present undesirable effects. Those effects lead to an inaccuracy ~~on~~ in the printed structure. For example, drops tend to spread out when they are deposited on many substrates. This behaviour results in wider fingers and narrower inter-spacing as shown in Table III; **Error! No se encuentra el origen de la referencia.** In addition to this, the frequency dependence is not taken into account in the simulations. As this sensor is quite small, any dimensional difference can affect the results. Therefore, these results confirm that the approximation taken in the numerical simulations for the thickness can be done without inducing substantial errors.

3.2. Humidity and temperature responses

After the physical characterization, hereafter the sensor capacitance **has been analysed** as a function of humidity and temperature in a wide frequency range ~~has been analysed~~. Let's remember that a humidity response with minimal thermal drift is our goal for the developed IDE capacitor. For five IDE capacitors with one printed layer, we have measured the capacitance as a function of the relative humidity and temperature in the frequency range from 100 kHz to 10 MHz. Furthermore, the measurements have been carried out in both directions for both humidity and temperature sweeps, that is to say, increasing and decreasing the relative humidity at fixed temperature for obtaining the sensor hysteresis in RH and vice versa for temperature.

Fig.5 shows the measured capacitance of the sensor for different values of RH at constant temperature. As can be observed, the sensor presents very similar response in frequency for each of the tested RH. Weremczuk *et al.* [14] found comparable capacitance curves for an IDE structure with a deposited layer of Nafion as sensing material. The displacement between curves due to RH variations is constant up to 70%. From 80% RH, the displacement between lines slightly increases; this tendency can be explained by the

condensation of water on the sensor surface at high humidity levels which could connect the electrodes and modify the global impedance [23]. For our results, the general decreasing trend with the frequency can be explained by the electrical permittivity decrease found in the Kapton HN substrate [24].

As mentioned, the temperature is the most important interfering factor in the response of the developed capacitive sensors. To test this dependence, Fig. 6 displays the capacitance as a function of frequency for several temperatures at 60% RH. These curves are practically overlapped up to 40°C, and then a displacement is observed. The range of frequencies, where the least difference between lines happens, is from 1 MHz to 10 MHz.

To obtain a better insight of the whole sensor response, we have defined the partial sensitivities of the capacitance with the relative humidity, $S_{RH}(f)$, and the temperature, $S_T(f)$ as a function of the ~~measurement~~ frequency, f , ~~of measurement~~ as:

$$S_{RH}(f) \equiv \frac{\partial C_{T=cte}(RH)}{\partial RH} \quad (4)$$

$$S_T(f) \equiv \frac{\partial C_{RH=cte}(T)}{\partial T} \quad (5)$$

Both sensitivities are shown in Fig. 7. Regarding humidity sensitivity, it decreases from around (4.5 ± 0.2) fF/%RH and ~~tending~~ tends to (4.0 ± 0.2) fF/%RH at the highest analysed frequencies. This tendency is a direct consequence of Fig. 5 where the separation between consecutive experimental curves decreases at higher frequencies. This range of sensitivities, about 2200 ppm/%RH, is a typical value in comparable previous works [13, 21, 25]. With respect to the temperature behaviour of the sensor in the whole spectrum, the thermal dependence decreases at higher frequencies, from about (-0.4 ± 0.2) fF/°C at 100 kHz to less than (-0.2 ± 0.2) fF/°C at 1 MHz. The ~~sensitivities~~ errors in sensitivities have been estimated by linear propagation of experimental errors in the calculated linear

regression. Comparing thermal and humidity sensitivities (Fig. 7), this sensor ~~has-shows~~ a humidity sensitivity between 11 and 22 times higher than the thermal drift in the analysed frequency range. Considering the central frequency of the analysed span, 1 MHz, we have measured a ~~sensitivities-sensitivity~~ ratio of 21. This means that our sensor would show a maximum error of 2% in RH without thermal compensation, within a temperature range of 40°C. This inaccuracy could be acceptable in many low-cost applications such as those related to RFID tags with sensing capabilities.

3.3. Calibration curves

Now, the calibration curves with the relative humidity and its hysteresis will be presented. The ~~behaviour-response~~ of the sensor to changes in the relative humidity is directly extracted from the curves obtained with the impedance analyser. In Fig. 8, we show a graph of these curves at the chosen frequency to compare and contrast the response of the sensor to variations in ~~the~~-RH at different temperatures.

We have calculated the calibration curves of the experimental data shown in Fig. 8; **Error! No se encuentra el origen de la referencia..** Equations 6 and 7 show these calibration curves. The coefficient of linearity is bigger than 0.98 in all cases.

$$C(pF) = 0.0041 \cdot RH(\%) + 1.693. R^2 = 0.983. \text{ Increasing RH} \quad (6)$$

$$C(pF) = 0.0043 \cdot RH(\%) + 1.702. R^2 = 0.996. \text{ Descending-Decreasing RH} \quad (7)$$

The maximum relative error due to the hysteresis between eq. 6 and 7 and experimental data is less than 2% up to 70% RH and below 4% at higher RH values.

An important ~~design~~ aspect ~~in-of~~ sensors ~~design~~ is the hysteresis of the device. The maximum shift between curves with increasing RH steps (represented as “UP” in Fig. 8; **Error! No se encuentra el origen de la referencia.**) and with decreasing RH steps

(representing as “DOWN” in Fig. 8) is less than 7 fF at 1 MHz up to 70% RH and less than 10 fF from 80% RH. Therefore, the maximum absolute error associated to the hysteresis is around 2% RH.

3.4 Response time

Another important property of any sensor is how fast the sensor output (the capacitance, in our case) changes when there is a variation in the input, which in our case is the relative humidity.

The dynamic response of the sensor is depicted in Fig. 9 and shows a high stability along different measurement cycles and over time. The output of the printed sensor is presented together with **that of** a commercial sensor and their results are comparable. Defining the response time as $t = \tau$, it would correspond to the 63% of the maximum value of capacitance (reached at equilibrium) for every increasing step of RH presented in Fig. 9. Although the sensor does not reach the steady state in these cycles, their behaviors can be adjusted by exponential curves; we estimated the response time from the adjusted curves. This time is equal to 356 ± 3 s. Additionally, the response time for desorption, τ' , can be defined as the time associated to the 37% of the maximum value of capacitance for every decreasing step of RH; this value is 367 ± 4 s. These long response times can be explained in terms of different diffusion rate in our solid substrate compared to the deposited layers in other IDE structures [13, 14]. The printed sensors can hardly compete in terms of response time with commercial CMOS-based humidity sensors (SHT15, Sensirion AG, Switzerland) with times smaller than 10 s. This lower performance in response time does not hinder the use of these printed humidity sensors due to **the fact that** humidity is an environmental property, which often changes gradually.

In any case, the response time is also directly related to the square value of the thickness of the sensitive layer [26]. Then, this time can be reduced by using a thinner substrate. Anyway, this sensor as it is presented here could be useful for environmental humidity monitoring, where changes are usually gradual and slow. Harrey et al. (2002) [27] developed ~~a parallel-plate capacitor sensor structures~~ **capacitive sensors** with a number of humidity sensitive polymers including polyimide (Kapton HN) and polyethersulphone (PES). Furthermore, they showed the improvement in time response by using thinner sensitive layers. In that study, the times achieved varied from 5 min to 10.5 min for Kapton HN depending on the thickness of the film.

3.5. Time Stability

The sensors have been measured once a week for more than 6 months and data show a small maximum variation of ± 9.3 fF of the average value. In order to estimate the aging drift, we did a stability test 5 months after its fabrication. After the fifth month, the humidity sensor was tested for 10 days at fixed relative humidity (30%) and controlled temperature (30 °C) every 6 hours. The aging drift was less than 3% RH, which is within the time drift specification of the used climatic chamber.

4. Conclusion

In this paper, we have designed, modelled, manufactured by inkjet printing, and characterized a small and low-cost humidity sensor that can be easily and quickly fabricated and integrated **into** RFID tags. The sensing element of this sensor is the substrate whose electrical permittivity is directly related to the relative humidity in the environment. Furthermore, the fabrication process is reduced not only because no extra sensing layer is needed, but also because only one printed layer is required to define the interdigitated capacitor.

This sensor only requires less than 12 mm² of Kapton HN and one layer of SunTronic U5603 ink (about 23 nl for one silver layer). Experimental data are in good agreement with results extracted from COMSOL Multiphysics, validating the extrapolation procedure for very thin printed layers. The proposed sensor shows a stable humidity response from 100 kHz to 10 MHz; its sensitivity is (4.5 ± 0.2) fF/%RH at 100 kHz and (4.2 ± 0.2) fF/%RH at 1 MHz.

Furthermore, a very low thermal drift has been obtained in a wide frequency range. The capacitance shows a thermal coefficient of around (-0.2 ± 0.2) fF/°C at 1 MHz whereas this coefficient has a value of (-0.4 ± 0.2) fF/°C at a frequency of 100 kHz. The relative humidity sensitivity is more than 11 times greater than thermal drift at 100 kHz and 21 times at 1 MHz. This result means that the compensation of temperature can be avoided, if the frequency of work is properly chosen. The time response of the sensor is about 6 min but this value could be improved by reducing the thickness of the substrate. Finally, the sensor response has hardly changed as a consequence of aging effect. This manufacturing process not only requires a small amount of materials but also a short time of fabrication with a high rate of success.

Acknowledgments

This work was partially funded by the Junta de Andalucía, Spain (Proyecto de Excelencia P10-TIC-5997) and Project, CEI BioTIC CEI-2013-P-2. These projects were partially supported by European Regional Development Funds (ERDF). **We thank EnviroMEMS research group (Sensors, Actuators and Microsystems Laboratory, École Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne, Switzerland) headed by Dr. Briand, for sharing their facilities to measure the time response of our sensors.**

References

- [1] A.A. Babar, S. Manzari, L. Sydanheimo, A.Z. Elsherbeni, L. Ukkonen, Passive UHF RFID Tag for Heat Sensing Applications, *Antennas and Propagation, IEEE Transactions on*, 60(2012) 4056-64.
- [2] A. Oprea, J. Courbat, N. Bârsan, D. Briand, N. De Rooij, U. Weimar, Temperature, humidity and gas sensors integrated on plastic foil for low power applications, *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 140(2009) 227-32.
- [3] R.A. Potyrailo, N. Nagraj, Z. Tang, F.J. Mondello, C. Surman, W. Morris, Battery-free Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) Sensors for Food Quality and Safety, *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 60(2012) 8535-43.
- [4] T. Unander, H.-E. Nilsson, Characterization of printed moisture sensors in packaging surveillance applications, *Sensors Journal, IEEE*, 9(2009) 922-8.
- [5] H. Andersson, A. Manuilskiy, T. Unander, C. Lidenmark, S. Forsberg, H. Nilsson, Inkjet printed silver nanoparticle humidity sensor with memory effect on paper, *Sensors Journal, IEEE*, 12(2012) 1901-5.
- [6] J. Virtanen, L. Ukkonen, T. Bjorninen, L. Sydanheimo, Printed humidity sensor for UHF RFID systems, *Sensors Applications Symposium (SAS)*, (2010) 269-72.
- [7] D. Briand, A. Oprea, J.r.m. Courbat, N. Bârsan, Making environmental sensors on plastic foil, *Materials Today*, 14(2011) 416-23.
- [8] V. Subramanian, J. Chang, F. Liao, Printed Organic Chemical Sensors and Sensor Systems, *Applications of Organic and Printed Electronics*, Springer, New York, 2013, 157-77.
- [9] R.A. Potyrailo, C. Surman, S. Go, Y. Lee, T. Sivavec, W.G. Morris, Development of radio-frequency identification sensors based on organic electronic sensing materials for selective detection of toxic vapors, *Journal of Applied Physics*, 106(2009) 124902--6.

- [10] A. Reddy, B. Narakathu, M. Atashbar, M. Rebros, E. Rebrosova, M. Joyce, Fully printed flexible humidity sensor, *Procedia Engineering*, 25(2011) 120-3.
- [11] T.-Y. Yang, J.-J. Huang, C.-Y. Liu, H.-Y. Wang, A CMOS-MEMS Humidity Sensor, *Proceedings of International Conference on Circuits, System and Simulation (ICCSS 2011)* (2011).
- [12] T. Jalkanen, E. Makila, A. Maattanen, J. Tuura, M. Kaasalainen, V.-P. Lehto, *et al.*, Porous silicon micro-and nanoparticles for printed humidity sensors, *Applied Physics Letters*, 101(2012) 263110-263110-4.
- [13] F. Molina-Lopez, D. Briand, N. de Rooij, All additive inkjet printed humidity sensors on plastic substrate, *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 166(2012) 212-22.
- [14] J. Weremczuk, G. Tarapata, R.S. Jachowicz, The ink-jet printing humidity sorption sensor - modelling, design, technology and characterization, *Measurement Science and Technology*, 23(2012) 014003.
- [15] E. Starke, A. Turke, M. Krause, W.-J. Fischer, Flexible polymer humidity sensor fabricated by inkjet printing, *Solid-State Sensors, Actuators and Microsystems Conference (TRANSDUCERS), 2011 16th International, IEEE2011*, 1152-5.
- [16] F. Molina-Lopez, A.V.s. Quintero, G. Mattana, D. Briand, N. de Rooij, Large-area compatible fabrication and encapsulation of inkjet-printed humidity sensors on flexible foils with integrated thermal compensation, *Journal of Micromechanics and Microengineering*, 23(2013) 025012.
- [17] J. Courbat, Y. Kim, D. Briand, N. de Rooij, Inkjet printing on paper for the realization of humidity and temperature sensors, *Solid-State Sensors, Actuators and Microsystems Conference (TRANSDUCERS), 2011 16th International, IEEE2011*, 1356-9.

- [18] A. Mohd Syaifudin, S. Mukhopadhyay, P. Yu, Modelling and fabrication of optimum structure of novel interdigital sensors for food inspection, *International Journal of Numerical Modelling: Electronic Networks, Devices and Fields*, 25(2012) 64-81.
- [19] P. Oikonomou, A. Botsialas, K. Manoli, D. Goustouridis, E. Valamontes, M. Sanopoulou, *et al.*, Chemocapacitor performance modeling by means of polymer swelling optical measurements, *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 171(2012) 409-15.
- [20] J.F. Salmeron, F. Molina-Lopez, D. Briand, J.J. Ruan, A. Rivadeneyra, M.A. Carvajal, *et al.*, Properties and Printability of Ink-jet and Screen Printed Silver Patterns for RFID Antennas, *Journal of Electronic Materials*, (2013) .
- [21] A. Oprea, N. Bârsan, U. Weimar, M.-L. Bauersfeld, D. Ebling, J.r. Wollenstein, Capacitive humidity sensors on flexible RFID labels, *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 132(2008) 404-10.
- [22] B. Derby, Inkjet printing of functional and structural materials: fluid property requirements, feature stability, and resolution, *Annual Review of Materials Research*, 40(2010) 395-414.
- [23] M. Sahm, A. Oprea, N. Bârsan, U. Weimar, Water and ammonia influence on the conduction mechanisms in polyacrylic acid films, *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 127(2007) 204-9.
- [24] Dupont™, Kapton Datasheet, (Kapton® polyimide film datasheet).
- [25] U. Altenberend, A. Oprea, N. Barsan, U. Weimar, N.F. De Rooij, F. Molina-Lopez, *et al.*, Inkjet Printed Capacitive Transducers on Flexible Plastic Substrates with Increase Stability: Ag on PET, *Tagungsband*, (2012) 527-31.
- [26] R. Igreja, C. Dias, Dielectric response of interdigital chemocapacitors: The role of the sensitive layer thickness, *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 115(2006) 69-78.

[27] P. M. Harrey, B. J. Ramsey, P. S. A. Evans, D. J. Harrison, "Capacitive-type humidity sensors fabricated using the offset lithographic printing process", *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 87(2002) 226-232.